#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

GEORGE W. BROWN,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 02-1787

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### APPELLANT GEORGE W. BROWN'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF

Lower Tribunal: The Circuit Court of the Tenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Polk County, Florida

> Mary Catherine Bonner, Esq. Counsel for Mr. Brown Fl. Bar No. 283398 207 S.W. 12<sup>th</sup> Court Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33315 (954) 523-6225

#

Issue

II	)
----	---

II. The United States Supreme Court made clear mere days ago what this Court has taught for years-an attorney cannot ignore his responsibility to gather and evaluate mitigation evidence in a death case. This Court has gone farther: if a lawyer fails to investigate he cannot effectively advise the client on the impact of the mitigation, hence cannot assist in the decision to waive mitigation. Here, counsel knew of the severe physical and mental problems of his client, questioned the client's very competence to assist counsel at trial and attend court proceedings, yet failed to investigate for either the guilt or penalty phases because he believed that the defendant was the "captain of the ship." This representation defines ineffectiveness.

III. Death is different. The law is clear: Before the

right to be present and to testify on one's own behalf-guaranteed by the Florida and United States Constitutions-can be knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived, it is necessary for a citizen to understand the exact nature of what is being waived and the waiver's potential consequences. It is the duty of the court to assure itself, before accepting any waiver, that the defendant (1) is capable of and actually comprehends what is being waived; (2) knows the consequences of the waiver; and (3) being accurately advised of the nature and consequences of the waiver. It is only a clear, voluntary, knowing, and intelligent abandonment of the right which can pass Constitutional muster. The evidence here fails to establish a waiver.

> IV. The trial court denied due process to Mr. Brown under both the Constitutions of Florida and the United States and abused its discretion when it failed to permit a request for argument submitted by Mr. Brown's counsel.

V. It is undisputed that the conviction of Mr. Brown rested on no eye-witness nor forensic evidence, but solely on circumstantial evidence, to wit, Mr. Brown's connections with certain belongings of the victim, equally consistent with those items being a gift or taken. Where the evidence is purely circumstantial, any "tangible" evidence which can be touched and felt by the jury assumes disproportionate importance. Here, the gaps in the case were filled with the unauthenticated note, checks and handwriting expert testimony. The "tangible" evidence in this case was unreliable because of lack of evidentiary foundation, the mishandling of the exemplars, the tentativeness of the expert opinion, and an invader in the defense camp.

	Ι			S			S			u			e
VI	•••••				•••••				•••••			92	
VI. The order based its finding on incomplete evidence with regard to the book and song deal.													
G													•
Conclusionviii												viii	
С	e	r	t	i	f	i	c	a	t	e		0	f
Serviceix													
С	e	r	t	i	f	i	с	а	t	e		0	f
Com	pliance	e		•••••	•••••				•••••		ix		

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## STATE CASES

Amendments to Florida Rules of Cr and 3.993 and Florida Rule of Judi S 0 . (Fla.2001)	cial Admi 2	<i>inistration</i> d	2.050, 8	28 9	999 36
Blanco v. State, 1997)			2 d	1 2 5 0	(Fla.
Bolin v. State, 2001)			2 d	894	(Fla.
Bruno v. State, 2001)			2 d	55	(Fla.
Deaton v. Duggen 1993)			o. 2	d 4	(Fla.
Garcia v. Stat (Fla.1993)			S o .	2 d	1 3 2 5
Griffin v. State, 2002)			2 d	906	(F1a.
Henry v. State, 1992)			2 d	429	(Fla.
Hill v. State, 1996)			2 d	901	(Fla.
<i>House</i> v. State, 199 So. 2d 134 (1st 7	t DCA 19	967)			5, 6,

v

<i>Huff v. State</i> , 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993)2, 3, 34
Lamadline v. State, 303 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1974)
Lewis v. State, 838 So. 2d 1102 (Fla. 2002)
<i>Lightbourne</i> v. <i>State</i> , 841 So. 2d431 (Fla. 2003)43
McLin v. State, 827 So. 2d 948 (2002)
<i>Peedev. State</i> , 474 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1985)
Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2000)
<i>Rosev. State</i> , 675 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1996)
<i>Statev. Brown</i> , 644 So. 2d 52(1994)
<i>State v. Coney</i> , 848 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 2003)
<i>State</i> v. <i>Lara</i> , 581 So. 2d 1288 (Fla. 1991)
<i>Stephens v. State</i> , 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 2000)
<i>Thibault v. State</i> , So. 2d, 2003 LEXIS 1072 (June 26, 2003)

# 

1		11	•			11	1	D	1	1	-	-	(
20	02)			 	••••			••••	 	••••	••••		43

### FEDERAL CASES

<i>Ake v. Oklahoma</i> , 470 U.S. 68 (1985)5, 11, 12								
Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530, U.S. 466 (2000)								
Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986)								
Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969)								
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)								
Carnley v. Cochran, 369 U.S.506 (1962)								
<i>Harris v. State</i> , 874 F.2d 756 (11th Cir. 1989)								
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)								
<i>Johnson</i> v. Zerbst, 304 U.S458 (1938)								

vii

78

*Lewis v. Jeffers*, 110 S. Ct. 3092 (1990)..... 9 Mills v. Maryland, 486 U . S . 3 6 7 (1988)......10 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U . S . 4 3 6 Price v. Vincent, 123 S. Ct. 1 8 4 8 v. Arizona, 536 U . S . Ring 5 8 4 Sochor v. Florida, 504 U . S . 5 2 7 Stringer v. Black, 503 U . S . 2 2 2 Stromberg v. California, 283 U.S. 3 5 9 (1931).....10 United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648 (1985)......97 Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 3 6 2 

# STATE STATUTES

§ Stat										
0										
							1			
							2			
FEDERAL STATUTES										
							U			
OTHE	ER AU'	THOR	ITY							
Art Const	i c l itution	e	V .	S	e c .	3	(b)(1	), (	(9)	Fla.
Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850										
Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.172(c)										

Florida Rule of Crin	ninal Proced	ure 3.172			
78					
R u 1 e 4 -	1.8	o f	t h e	Florida	Bar
Rules				98	
Imwinkelried, Edwa	rd J., Evider	ntiary Fou	undations,		

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

#### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

1

The instant presentation is George W. Brown's direct appeal from the denial of his Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence of death, R. III, 505-592<sup>1</sup> filed on his behalf on December 3, 1999 by his then-counsel, Capital Collateral Relief. An evidentiary hearing was held on October 19 and 20, 2000, and

The originally prepared Record will be referenced by "R." followed by the appropriate volume number and page number. The Supplemental Record will be referenced as 1<sup>st</sup> Supp. And 2<sup>nd</sup> Supp. followed by the volume and page numbers.

on December 15, 2000. R. IV. 607 *et seq.* Mr. Brown filed requests in May and later in October, 2001, directed to the lower court asking it to hold its ruling on vacation in abeyance, 1<sup>st</sup> Supp. Vol VI, 934, to accept supplemental written argument, and to permit supplemental oral argument in support of the vacation request. 1<sup>st</sup> Supp. Vol.VI, 93 The State responded. 1<sup>st</sup> Supp. Vol. 937. In its Order of March 26, 2002, the court denied all three requests. Mr. Brown appeals therefrom. 1<sup>st</sup> Supp. Vol II, 185.

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal by virtue of Art. V. 3(b)(1), (9) *Fla. Const.* 

#### COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS<sup>2</sup>

2

3

Mr. Brown filed his Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence

December 3, 1999.<sup>3</sup> R.505-592 The trial court entered its Amended Order Setting Briefing scheduling as well as setting a *Huff*<sup>4</sup> hearing. R.593. The State

<sup>4</sup>*Huff v. State*, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

This cause was assigned to the current court due to disqualification of the judges of the Tenth Judicial Circuit by virtue of the ascension to the Bench in that Circuit of Mr. Brown's trial counsel Robert Doyel. R. III, 445-461.

The initial Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence included a request for leave to amend and was filed March 18, 1997. R. I, 130-166.

responded to the Motion to Vacate on January 28, 2000. R595-598. The State conceded hearing on Issues I through V. 1<sup>st</sup> Supp.Vol. I., 2 & 6. The *Huff* hearing was held May 25, 2000. 1<sup>st</sup> Supp.Vol. I, 1-16.

Mr. Brown raised twenty-one issues in his pleadings. The state's position is contained in its Response. R. III, 595-598. The court's rulings are contained in its Order. R. VI, 999-1000.

<u>Claim I</u> Mr. Brown's capital conviction and sentence are constitutionally unreliable in violation of the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution: conflicts of interest and improper delegation of responsibility.

A. Conflict of interest: Counsel's improper interest in the outcome of trial.

B. Conflict of Interest: Assistant's improper relationship with lead detective.

C. Ineffective assistance of Counsel: Improper delegation

The State conceded the necessity for a hearing on this issue prior to the

Huff hearing and a hearing was granted.

<u>Claim II</u> The state violated the Constitutional requirements of *Brady V. Maryland* and its progeny, thus denying Mr. Brown his right to due process and a fair trial under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and under the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution. The State's actions and omissions rendered defense counsel's representation ineffective and prevented a full adversarial testing of the evidence.

The State conceded the necessity for a hearing on this issue prior to the

Huff hearing and a hearing was granted.

<u>Claim III</u> Mr. Brown was denied effective assistance of counsel and an adversarial testing at the guilt phase of his trial, in violation of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution, and as a result, his death sentence is unreliable.

A. The Strickland Standard

B. Failure to present voluntary intoxication defense

C. Counsel was prejudicially ineffective for failing to challenge the State's case by presenting available witnesses to counter crucial testimony regarding the alleged manner in which the crime occurred

i. Failure to challenge the Medical Examiner's

testimony.

ii. Failure to challenge crime scene evidence.

iii. Failure to investigate lay witness and the victim or present available witnesses

D. Failure to adequately argue suppression of statements.

E. Failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct

F. Failure to communicate or adequately explain plea offer G. Failure to effectively cross-examine Detective Ore

H. The cumulative effect of trial counsel's deficient performance

I. Failure to pursue phone records.

The State conceded the necessity for a hearing on this issue and

a hearing was granted.

<u>Claim IV</u> Mr. Brown received prejudicially ineffective assistance of counsel and was denied adversarial testing at the penalty phase of his trial in violation of his rights under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution.

A. The *Strickland* Standard

B. Failure to present mitigating evidence

C. Failure to present expert testimony

- i. Medical expert in epilepsy
- ii. Positron emission tomography scan
- iii. Expert in schizophrenia

The State conceded the necessity for a hearing on this issue and a hearing

was granted.

<u>Claim V</u> Due to the inadequate time, documentation, and preparation, the mental health expert who evaluated Mr. Brown did not render adequate mental health assistance required by *Ake v. Oklahoma<sup>5</sup>*, in violation of Mr. Brown's rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.

The State conceded the necessity for a hearing on this issue with the caveat that it believed that the claim was one of ineffective assistance rather than access to expert witnesses. A hearing was granted.

<u>Claim VI</u> Mr. Brown was denied his fundamental right to a fair trial, in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments, due to prosecutorial misconduct, which rendered the outcome of his trial unreliable. The State encouraged and presented misleading evidence and improper argument to the jury.

A. Introduction

- B. Lead detective's relationship with defense legal assistant
- C. Improper argument
  - i. Improper instruction and conditioning of the jury
  - ii. Improper introduction of evidence
  - iii. Improper elicitation of emotional response

<sup>5</sup> 

<sup>470</sup> U.S. 68 (1985).

iv. Improper comment

v. Improper non-statutory aggravators

vi. Improper instruction to the jury

D. Prejudicial Photographs not admitted into evidence, were reviewed by the jury.

The State argued that claims of prosecutorial misconduct contained in claims six and nine should be summarily denied; that these claims must be raised on direct appeal with citation to *House v. State*, 199 So2d. 134 (1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1967.) in support of this assertion. Claims six and nine were found by the court to be procedurally barred because they should have been raised on direct appeal. The Order did not speak to the State's position that prosecutorial misconduct claims were not cognizable. R. VI, 999.

<u>Claim VII</u> Mr. Brown's rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution were violated during voir dire due to counsel's deficiencies or being rendered ineffective by State action.

- A. Intentional exclusion of black jurors without race-neutral reason
- B. The jury was not impartial
- C. Prosecution's improper hypothetical questions tainted the jury

The state argued that the court in *House* had determined that the matter

of exclusion of African Americans from a jury panel cannot be raised for the first time

in collateral proceedings.

Claim seven was found to be procedurally barred because it should have

been raised on direct appeal

<u>Claim VIII</u> Mr. Brown was denied his rights under the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution, when the court found one of the aggravating factors in support of a death sentence to be that the murder occurred during the commission of a felony because that finding was duplicative of the basis for the death penalty; i.e., felony-murder.

A. Automatic Aggravator: Felony MurderB. The jury considered two other improper aggravators.C. Conclusion

The state argued that the argument in claim eight was legally

incorrect as well as that it should have been raised on direct appeal.

Claim eight was found to be procedurally barred solely because it

should have been raised on direct appeal.

<u>Claim IX</u> Mr. Brown's sentencing jury was misled by comments, questions, and instructions that unconstitutionally and inaccurately diluted the jury's sense of responsibility towards sentencing in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

The state position and the ruling on claims six and nine are identical.

<u>Claim X</u> Use of an invalid prior conviction in the sentencing calculus violated Mr. Brown's rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. To the extent trial and appellate counsel failed to properly litigate this issue, Mr. Brown received ineffective assistance of counsel.

The State argued that the claim was moot because it was not ripe; the

court ruled that it failed to state a claim on which relief may be granted.

<u>Claim XI</u> Mr. Brown's sentence of death violates the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments because the penalty phase jury received information which was incorrect under Florida Law and shifted the burden to Mr. Brown to prove that death was inappropriate and because the trial court employed a presumption of death [sic] sentencing Mr. Brown.

The State argued that this issue attacked a statute and therefore should

have been addressed on direct appeal. The court agreed, finding that it should have

been raised on direct appeal.

<u>Claim XII</u> Mr. Brown did not make a knowing and intelligent waiver of any rights under the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and his rights were violated when his purported statements were improperly admitted into evidence. Trial counsel rendered prejudicially ineffective assistance by failing to investigate and adequately litigate this issue.

A. Mr. Brown's statements were obtained illegally.

The state argued that both claim twelve and claim thirteen were raised on

appeal. The court agreed.

<u>Claim XIII</u> Mr. Brown was denied his right to a speedy trial in violation of the United States Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Statutes and the Florida Constitution.

This claim and claim twelve were dealt with identically.

<u>Claim XIV</u> The introduction of nonstatutory aggravating factors and the State's argument upon nonstatutory aggravating factors rendered Mr. Brown's death sentence fundamentally unfair and unreliable, in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments. Defense Counsel's failure to argue effectively constituted deficient performance.

The State argued that this claim should have been addressed on direct appeal and the court agreed.

<u>Claim XV</u> Mr. Brown is denied his rights under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and under the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution because execution by electrocution is cruel and/or unusual punishment.

The state's position was that this claim was moot. The court agreed.

<u>Claim XVI</u> The rules prohibiting Mr. Brown's lawyers from interviewing jurors to determine if Constitutional error was present violates equal protection principles, the First, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution and the corresponding provisions of the Florida Constitution and denies Mr. Brown adequate assistance of counsel in pursuing his post-conviction remedies.

The State argued that this claim did not state a claim upon which relief

could be granted and the court agreed.

<u>Claim XVII</u> Prosecutorial argument and inadequate jury instructions misled the jury regarding its ability to exercise mercy and sympathy, thereby depriving Mr. Brown of a reliable and individualized capital sentencing determination in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. To the extent counsel failed to request that the jury be instructed that mercy and sympathy are proper considerations in the penalty phase of a capital murder trial, Mr. Brown received prejudicially ineffective assistance of counsel.

The state argued that claim seventeen encompassed prosecutorial

misconduct and should be denied. The court found that this was an issue which should have been raised on appeal.

<u>Claim XVIII</u> The finding of the aggravating factor of heinous, atrocious, or cruel violated the Eight Amendment, *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307 (1979), and *Lewis v. Jeffers*, 110 S.Ct. 3092 (1990), because this aggravator was not proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Mr. Brown in entitled to a new sentencing proceeding.

The state argued that this claim was moot. The court found that the claim was raised and that Mr. Brown prevailed on this issue on appeal.

<u>Claim XIX</u> The trial court failed to find mitigating circumstances appearing in the record in violation of Mr. Brown's rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. The failure to properly litigate this issue at the trial or on direct appeal denied Mr. Brown the effective assistance of counsel.

The state argued that this was raised on direct appeal and the court agreed.

<u>Claim XX</u> Mr. Brown's jury returned a general verdict of guilty which must be set aside pursuant to *Mills v. Maryland*<sup>6</sup> and *Stromberg v. California*,<sup>7</sup> because the jury was instructed it could rely on two independent grounds to support the verdict, i.e. premeditated or felony murder, and the ground of premeditated murder was improper. Mr. Brown was denied his right, under the Sixth Amendment, Eighth Amendment, and Due Process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, to a unanimous jury verdict.

The state argued that claim twenty misstated the law. The court held that this

6

486 U.S. 367 (1988). <sup>7</sup> 283 U.S. 359 (1931). issue should have been raised on appeal.

<u>Claim XXI</u> Mr. Brown's trial court proceedings were fraught with procedural and substantive errors which cannot be harmless when viewed as a whole since the combination of errors deprived him of the fundamentally fair trial guaranteed under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments.

The state argued that this claim was insufficient on its face. *The court never ruled on this issue.*

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