IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GEORGE WALLACE BROWN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC02-1787

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101 Concourse Center #4 3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone: (813) 287-7910 Fax: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I: The lower court correctly rejected as procedurally barred several claims which either were raised on direct appeal (and therefore not appropriately the subject of relitigation) or were not raised and could have been asserted on direct appeal if properly preserved for appellate review (and therefore not cognizable collaterally since the post-conviction vehicle does not serve as a second or successive appeal).

Issue II: The lower court correctly denied relief to the claim that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance at the and penalty phases in a lengthy, thorough quilt and comprehensive order. Appellant makes virtually no effort to challenge the lower court's findings or analysis on the claim of ineffectiveness at quilt phase. With respect to penalty phase, relief was correctly denied as testimony to the jury about appellant's personal history and mitigation was presented through Brown's mother and neuropsychologist Dr. Dee, despite the client's expressed desire not to use family members. Counsel ably utilized Dr. Dee to elicit favorable medical and mental health testimony while simultaneously minimizing damaging information available in records and keeping access to such records away from the prosecutor. Mitigating evidence submitted evidentiary hearing was at the either cumulative or

inconsequential.

Issue III: The lower court did not err in allowing appellant to be absent after the second day of the evidentiary hearing. This claim must be deemed procedurally barred as the issue was never presented to the lower court for consideration and preservation for appellate review. The claim is also meritless. Brown simply chose not to attend any further proceedings and his signed written waiver has been made part of the record. Brown reiterated during the colloquy with the prosecutor that he was waiving the opportunity to testify (R. Vol. V, 962). Brown did not complain thereafter that he was denied the opportunity to appear and/or testify.

Issue IV: Appellant's claim that the lower court abused its discretion or violated due process of law by failing to permit argument by Brown's counsel is totally meritless. The record reflects that at the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing on December 15, 2000, the lower court heard and entertained defense counsel's argument about trial counsel's alleged ineffectiveness, the alleged conflict of interest and the prosecutor's alleged misconduct. At the conclusion, Brown's counsel did not request a further opportunity to present additional argument. That successor counsel may have made a

request months after submission to the court for more argument did not entitle appellant to it, any more than counsel could permissibly expect subsequent or successive oral argument in this Court.

Issue V: Appellant's complaint that the lower court did not properly consider or resolve matters about the check exemplars or "Bobby-Wanda" exemplars is meritless since the evidence at the hearing established that counsel tactically chose not to object to evidence which corroborated and was consistent with the client's version of events. As to assistant Linda Goodwin, the record is clear that Detective Ore did <u>not</u> utilize her in obtaining the court-ordered handwriting exemplars.

Issue VI: The lower court correctly decided that there was no conflict of interest adversely affecting counsel's performance regarding the "book and song" deal and trial counsel did not violate the standards enunciated by Strickland v. <u>Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) and its progeny; nor did appellant satisfy the criteria established by Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335 (1980). The lower court was in a more advantageous position appellate tribunal than and an appropriately decided and resolved any conflict in the testimony between attorney (now Judge) Doyel and legal assistant Goodwin.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING CLAIMS 6 THROUGH 21.

Appellant initially notes that on October 1, 2001, amendments went into effect pertaining to post-conviction challenges to conviction. That fact is an irrelevancy since, as Brown concedes, the instant motion was filed prior to the effective date of such amendments. Indeed, the hearing held pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993), occurred on May 25, 2000, some seventeen months prior to the amendments (R. Supp. Vol. II, 290-305).³

Mr. Brown next complains that the lower court "failed to look beyond the labels attached by the state" to his issues (Brief, p. 37). This amounts to a not-so-subtle invitation that the Court overrule its considerable jurisprudence over the years regarding procedural default and adopt Brown's view that postconviction challenges should be treated as second (or third or fourth) appeals and that any claim can be raised at any time, and repeatedly, in the hope that perhaps new judges - like new expert witnesses - will be available to accept his view. The

³ Appellee does not accept the view that under the amendments to the rule, the mere defense assertion of the need for an evidentiary hearing mandates one where the issue does not require it; or that prior procedural defaults are vitiated.

Court should not merely decline the invitation, but reject it decisively. Issues 6 through 21 presented below can be summarized as follows (R. Vol. III, 535-588):

- Claim 6 - prosecutorial misconduct, presenting misleading evidence and improper argument to jury;

- Claim 7 - violations during voir dire due to counsel's deficiencies or being rendered ineffective by state action;

- Claim 8 - aggravating factor of murder committed during a felony was duplicative of felony-murder;

- Claim 9 - jury misled and instructions diluted their sense of responsibility (<u>Caldwell</u> claim);

- Claim 10 - use of invalid prior conviction in the sentencing calculus (Johnson v. Mississippi, 486 U.S. 578 (1988));

- Claim 11 - penalty phase jury received information incorrect under Florida law and shifted the burden;

- Claim 12 - defendant did not make knowing and intelligent waiver and rights were violated when his statements were admitted into evidence;

- Claim 13 - denial of right to speedy trial;

- Claim 14 - use of nonstatutory aggravating factors and state's argument;

- Claim 15 - electrocution is cruel and unusual punishment;

- Claim 16 - complaint about rules prohibiting juror interviews;

- Claim 17 - improper argument and jury instruction regarding mercy and sympathy;

- Claim 18 - finding of HAC improper, since not proven, citing <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307 (1979) and <u>Lewis v.</u> <u>Jeffers</u>, 497 U.S. 764 (1990);

- Claim 19 - trial court failed to find mitigating circumstances in record;

- Claim 20 - jury's general verdict must be set aside pursuant to <u>Mills v. Maryland</u>, 486 U.S. 367 (1988) and <u>Stromberg</u> v. California, 283 U.S. 359 (1931); and

- Claim 21 - proceedings fraught with error.

(1) WHETHER THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY DENIED RELIEF ON ISSUES 12, 13, 18 AND 19 AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED BECAUSE THEY HAD BEEN RAISED ON DIRECT APPEAL.

The lower court determined after the <u>Huff</u> hearing that claims 12, 13, 18, and 19 had been raised on direct appeal, noting that appellant had prevailed on claim 18 (R. Supp. Vol. II, 306-307; see also R. Vol. VI, 999-1000). <u>See Allen v.</u> <u>State/Crosby</u>, ____ So. 2d ____, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S 604, 606 n 4 (Fla. 2003)(finding procedural bar, "claims 8, 9 and 10 were raised on direct appeal."). Appellant now argues, as an appellate afterthought, that while claim 12 pertaining to the

suppression of his statements to law enforcement officers had been raised on appeal (see Issue VII of direct appeal brief), he now sought to garb the claim in the cloak of ineffective assistance of counsel. Two responses are immediately apparent.

First, at the <u>Huff</u> hearing, the parties agreed that an evidentiary hearing was appropriate in claims 1 through 5, which dealt with ineffective assistance of counsel and Brady claims.⁴ When the court inquired of Brown's collateral counsel about the remaining sixteen claims, counsel alluded to a prosecutorial misconduct/Brady claim (R. Vol. II, 292-293) and claim 7 (R. Vol. II, 294). Although given the opportunity, counsel did not urge that an evidentiary hearing was required on the nowasserted claim 12. Appellant thus abandoned the claim at the Huff hearing. See R. Anderson v. State, 822 So. 2d 1261, 1266-1267 (Fla. 2002) ("Although the trial court inquired whether there were any other issues to be discussed, collateral counsel never asserted that an evidentiary hearing was required for the additional Brady subclaims. . . . Accordingly, . . . we conclude that Anderson intentionally abandoned the presentation of any <u>Brady</u> subclaims.")

⁴ The state noted that if claim 5 were an ineffective counsel claim, a hearing was appropriate but that if it were strictly a due process violation of <u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u>, 470 U.S. 53 (1985), the claim should be deemed procedurally barred (R. Supp. Vol. II, 294-296).

Secondly, this Court has consistently and repeatedly declared that post-conviction motions do not constitute a second appeal and that it is improper simply to urge an issue that is properly cognizable on appeal under the cloak of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. See, generally, <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995); <u>Medina v. State</u>, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990); <u>Brown v. State</u>, 755 So. 2d 616, 620 (Fla. 2000).

In claim 12 below appellant asserted that his statements were obtained illegally and made without a knowing and intelligent waiver of his rights and that counsel was ineffective. Brown raised in Issue VII of his direct appeal a claim that the trial court had erred by failing to grant a motion to suppress statements. Defense counsel at trial had filed a pre-trial motion to suppress statements due to Miranda violations (DAR 1678) which was denied by the trial court (DAR 1853-54) following an evidentiary hearing at which the trial court heard the testimony of Deputy Sheriff Richard Hess, Investigator Roland Lackey and Homicide Investigator Robert Ore (DAR 1790-1851). The trial court ruled that jailor Hess did not conduct an interrogation (DAR 1850) and this Court affirmed without discussion. Investigator Lackey testified that he provided Miranda warnings and appellant signed a waiver of

rights form acknowledging he understood his rights and agreed to answer questions (DAR 1821-1824). Brown agreed to talk to Detective Ore when told his <u>Miranda</u> rights still applied (DAR 1827). The lower court correctly determined that Brown had previously litigated his claim that his statements were obtained illegally; the claim was insufficiently pled and appellant was merely attempting improperly to relitigate a rejected claim under the guise of an ineffectiveness of counsel assertion.⁵

As to claim 13 below, appellant concedes that the speedy trial issue was raised on direct appeal (see Issue VIII in direct appeal brief) and his attempt merely to present the variant that counsel was ineffective in the speedy trial is impermissible under the established case law cited.

⁵ At the <u>Huff</u> hearing, Brown's collateral counsel made no effort to urge the need for an evidentiary hearing on claim 12. Rather, he confirmed the state's acquiescence to a hearing on claims 1 through 5, except to contend that the prosecutorial misconduct claim (claim 6) included intentional conduct by the prosecutor and that in claim 7 it was desirable for trial counsel to address whether there was a race neutral reason in jury selection (R. Supp. Vol. II, 291-294).

At the conclusion of the <u>Huff</u> hearing, the court was informed that the parties had taken the depositions of Linda Goodwin and Detective Robert Ore and the parties seemed to agree they could depose the detective who did the in-house investigation and return to the court in the event further judicial action was needed (R. Supp. Vol. II, 297-304).

Subsequently, depositions were taken of Dave Anderson (R. Supp. Vol. VII, 1009-1042), Fred Reynolds (R. Supp. Vol. I, 51-75) and Al Smith (R. Supp. Vol. I, 76-98), and were submitted into evidence. (R. Supp. Vol. VI, 967).

As to claim 18 below, appellant acknowledges that a challenge to the HAC aggravating factor was made on appeal (Issue X in direct appeal brief) and that this Court found the evidence insufficient to support the HAC. This Court added:

We find this error and any error in instruction on this circumstance harmless on this record. There is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the recommended sentence. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla.1986). Brown v. State, 644 So. 2d 52, 54 (Fla. 1994)

Brown argues here that he seeks review of the impact of the HAC removal on his sentence. But if his complaint is with this Court's resolution of the issue, trial counsel's alleged ineffectiveness has nothing to do with that and obviously the trial court is in no position to reverse this Court. As to claim 19, the correctness of the lower court ruling that the challenge to the trial court's alleged failure to consider and find mitigating circumstances presented in the record was procedurally barred as a question for direct appeal is confirmed by J.D. Wright v. State/Crosby, _____ So. 2d ____, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S 517, 522 (Fla. 2003)("on direct appeal, we affirmed the trial court's order finding there were no mitigating circumstances . . . [citation omitted] . . . Wright did not raise this claim [that this Court failed to reweigh as required by Sochor v. Florida, 504 U.S. 527] in a motion for rehearing

following our opinion in his initial appeal. We therefore conclude that he abandoned this claim. <u>See Lightbourne v.</u> <u>State</u>, 841 So. 2d 431, 442 (Fla. 2003)(finding that a claim which could have been raised in a motion for rehearing but was not was abandoned and procedurally barred from consideration in a postconviction proceeding . . [citation omitted] . . . Therefore, to the extent Wright argues this Court erred in failing to find the existence of mitigation, this claim is procedurally barred.").

Contrary to appellant's cursory suggestion, neither <u>Apprendi</u> <u>v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000) nor <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) has any impact either on the procedural bars to appellant's claims or the merits of those claims.

As to claim 19 below, Brown raised such a claim on direct appeal (see Issues XII and XIV in direct appeal brief) and this Court disposed of the claim, stating: "The trial court considered mitigating evidence in three full pages of its sentencing order, but gave it little weight. We find no error." <u>Brown v. State</u>, 644 So. 2d 52, 54 (Fla. 1994). Appellant did not explain either in the lower court or in this Court why he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the claim of whether the trial court considered mitigating evidence in the record.

(2) WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING CLAIMS 6, 7, 8, 9, 11, 14, 17, AND 20 BELOW AS PROCEDURALLY BARRED BECAUSE THEY SHOULD HAVE BEEN RAISED ON DIRECT APPEAL.

The lower court found these claims procedurally barred (R. Supp. Vol. II, 306-307; R. Vol. VI, 999-1000).⁶ See Gore v. State/Crosby, 846 So. 2d 461, 466 n 4 (Fla. 2003) (procedurally barred claims as issues that should have been raised on direct appeal are not properly presented in post-conviction and cannot be resurrected by making conclusory ineffective assistance of counsel allegations); R. S. Jones v. State/Crosby, 845 So. 2d 55, 72 n 38 (Fla. 2003) (trial court correctly found issues procedurally barred because they should have been or were raised on direct appeal); D. R. Spencer v. State/Crosby, 842 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2003) (substantive claims of prosecutorial misconduct and juror bias procedurally barred since not raised on appeal); M. A. Griffin v. State, ___ So. 2d ___, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S 723 (Fla., September 25, 2003) (repeatedly stating that issues are procedurally barred because they could have and should have been raised on direct appeal, citing Valle v. State, 705 So. 2d 1331, 1335 (Fla. 1997) and <u>Harvey v. Dugger</u>, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256

⁶ While Brown mentions issue 20 in the caption to his argument, he does not mention it in his argument section. Thus, that claim is abandoned. <u>See Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990); <u>Shere v. State</u>, 742 So. 2d 215, 217 n 6 (Fla. 1999); <u>Sweet v. State</u>, 810 So. 2d 854, 870 (Fla. 2002); <u>State v.</u> <u>Mitchell</u>, 719 So. 2d 1245, 1247 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998); <u>Fotopoulos</u> <u>v. State</u>, 838 So. 2d 1122, 1127 n 4 (Fla. 2002).

(Fla. 1995)).

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